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Introduction (Abstract)

This paper explores the thoughts and activities of Bonner Fellers from June
1945 to June 1946. Fellers served as General Douglas MacArthur’s trusted
military secretary from 1944 to 1946. Until the Japanese surrender, he was also
in charge of MacArthur’s psychological warfare against Japan. Many of the
details regarding this topic in this paper are new, including Fellers’s view of the
Japanese Emperor, his thoughts about how the war between Japan and the U.S.
had ended, his thoughts about and the circumstances surrounding his retirement,
and most importantly his activities in Japan. Fellers’s major contribution to the
American efforts toward Japan was spearheading within the military organiza-
tion commanded by General MacArthur the argument to use the Imperial Throne
so as to induce the Japanese to surrender and carry out disarmament, demobiliza-
tion and reforms in Japan. He also gathered historical documents and other
evidence during his days in Japan, which were used in writing during the first
three months of 1946 a report on the Psychological Warfare against Japan from
1944 to 1945 and contributed to his argument that between the time of Germany’s
surrender and the first atomic bomb explosion in Hiroshima, the two countries
had missed opportunities to reach an early settlement of the Pacific War.

Bonner Fellers and the Pacific War, June-August 1945

Toward the end of the bloody Okinawa campaign MacArthur still thought
Russian entry was necessary. Fellers noted on June 12 that MacArthur had
“made it very clear to [Joint Chiefs of Staff George C.] Marshall that it is of Para-
mount importance for Stalin to strike before we do” and on June 18, the day his
commander of the Tenth Ammy in charge of the Okinawa campaign Major General
Simon Bolivar Buckner was killed in action, that MacArthur “urged Truman to
induce Stalin to attack with Red Army well before our scheduled date for Olym-
picsothatJapanese Army would have a major commitment prior to our landing.”

But if Olympic got carried out and if the Emperor’s role would be most useful
in inducing surrender before such a landing took place, would there be less need
for using the Emperor to achieve a Japanese surrender after the battle in the home
islands began? On July 12 Fellers attended a dinner hosted by MacArthur for a
British military delegation. Fellers noted in his Military Secretary Diary that
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while MacArthur stated that the Japanese Government was “eager to talk peace,”
he had to wait for the outcome of the Potsdam Conference. Furthermore, he stated
his hope “to destroy Emperor who is Commander-in-Chief of Japanese forces.”

Should MacArthur’s statement be interpreted as a warrior’s rhetoric or should
it be interpreted as expressing the possibility that the idea of keeping the Imperial
Throne as reflected in Fellers’s Psychological Warfare Plan be scrapped after the
start of an anticipated bloody incursion into the Japanese home islands? Before
the Potsdam Proclamation, MacArthur seemed to have become more neutral in
his approach toward the Japanese Throne; his attitude is reflected in the fact that
Fellers’s Psychological Warfare Branch (PWB) published a background report on
July 22 entitled “The Emperor of Japan.” Although this comprehensive July
report pointed to the fact that “The Constitution recognizes that the Emperor is
all powerful, but in practice he exercises his powers only upon the recommenda-
tion of his numerous advisers,” and introduced detailed aspects of the political
structure under the Meiji Constitution, it focused on the following question and
did not mention PWB guideline on the Emperor:

Discussion among the Allies, as they consider what to do with their inevi-
table victory over Japan, centers on Hirohito. In the process of liquidating
Japanese militarism, must Hirohito, too, be liquidated? If so, how will the
resultant political vacuum in Japan be filled?*

In analyzing the above questions, the report drew on interrogation reports of
Japanese prisoners, and various publications and public statements in the U.S. by
public officials, journalists, and academics in favor of or against the retention of
the Imperial Throne, and the aforementioned June 1945 Gallup poll of average
Americans.” The report introduced the ideas by Joseph Grew regarding the
retention of the Imperial Throne in the State Department by using his public
statement® and magazine articles such as in Nation (October 14, 1944), The Ameri-
can Mercury (January 1944), and Time (Pacific Edition, May 21, 1945), that
discussed the internal developments in the State Department that argued for the
retention of the Imperial Throne; the last two articles indicated that the Depart-
ment found the Throne useful for carrying out occupation reforms and Nation
introduced Eugene Dooman as a key player in spearheading this approach to
retain the Throne.” The only part in this report that used Fellers’s July 1944
“Answer to Japan” is:
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The mystic hold the Emperor has on his people and the Spiritual strength
of the Shinto faith properly directed need not be dangerous. The Emperor
can be made a force for good and peace provided Japan is totally defeated
and the military clique destroyed.?

At the same time, this July 22 report used the aforementioned Zime article,’
Owen Lattimore'® and others to make the following point: “To pass off the
Emperor as a puppet without political responsibility of any kind or as an institu-
tion which can be directed toward good ends hardly merits serious consider-
ation.”"! With regard to the opinions on the Imperial Throne among Britain,
China and the Soviet Union, the report stated that “Britain has been in favor of
retaining the Emperor as a ‘control’ of the disillusioned conquered nation.” In
discussing the Chinese government’s position, the report introduced Chiang Kai-
shek’s speech used by Grew in his May 28 memorandum of conversations with
President Truman while also showing that government’s announcement of its
perception of Emperor Hirohito as Asia’s War Criminal No. 1. In other words,
the report indicated China was undecided on the Emperor issue and it also stated
this was also the case for the Soviet Union."

After the Potsdam Proclamation on July 26, Fellers recorded on July 27 that
MacArthur was “not as favorably impressed with Berlin peace terms as I”” be-
cause he thought Japan “must reject them.”* Fellers wrote his wife on the same
day regarding his optimism about the war and that he felt no need to change the
guideline for his psychological warfare program:

T am elated over the Berlin terms for the Japanese. Unconditional Surren-
der was a most unfortunate phrase to define it at this time—when we are in
a position to make good with force—is especially suicide. It will shorten
the war and anything could happen Now. . . .

Our Psychological Warfare program does not have to make a single ad-
justment in view of Berlin announcement.!*

But the assumption regarding a Japanese surrender was based on the notion that
it would take an American landing in the home islands to create the momentum for
it. Fellers reflected such thinking on July 30 in a letter to his wife:

We are in the midst of a hot Psychological Warfare campaign as a result of
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the Potsdam Declaration. It gives us a lot of ammunition. No one thought
they’d quit now but every day sees the military gov[ernmen]t more and
more discredited and the peace movement growing slowly stronger. Some
day—after we land—the scale will tip.

Do you think Stalin will enter? Think he wants a slice of that will be the
best and most honorable way.**

On August 2 an American military delegation from Potsdam visited MacArthur
to brief him on the Conference and Fellers noted in his Military Secretary Diary
that they had a long discussion on the subject of the Soviet entry into the war.'*
Indeed, it was during this meeting that MacArthur learned for the first time the
secret Yalta agreement between President Franklin Roosevelt and Stalin regarding
Soviet entry into the war against Japan within three months after Germany’s
surrender. On the previous day, MacArthur was briefed for the first time by Air
Force General Carl Spaatz about the existence of the atomic bomb."

On August 3 Fellers expressed his anxiety about the war when he wrote in his
Military Secretary’s Diary that “Japan is in bad shape frantically trying to” use
the “Potsdam proclamation as a basis for talks.” On the one hand he thought
peace was coming any day, but on the other hand that it would not arrive until
December.

Then on August 5, Fellers wrote in his aforementioned diary that a new bomb
was about to be used:

B-29’s will drop mammoth bomb in an industrial area south of Yokchama
tomorrow at 9:30. They hope this bomb will be so devastating that Japan will
see the futility of further resistance. It will be interesting to leam its effect.’®

The day after the first atomic bomb explosion in Hiroshima, Fellers wrote to
his wife in a letter dated 7 August 1945 from Manila:

What do you think of the atomic bomb. If it works it will end war for no one
can afford to toy with anything so destructive. We have had no technical
report yet.

Things are so unsettled we are here for a while. Anything could happen—
even surrender Now! Certainly the Nips all know by now their cause is
hopeless."
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Fellers was scheduled to leave for Okinawa with other military officers but “the
tense situation” prevented this trip.® This situation reflected uncertainty as to
the exact timing of a Japanese surrender and the future course of the war in Asia.
On August 10 MacArthur wrote a cable to Joint Chiefs of Staff General Marshall
that Fellers had been chosen to head MacArthur’s military mission to the Soviet
Union and requested Marshall to have Fellers elevated one rank from Brigadier
General to Major General for the task, as MacArthur thought Fellers well quali-
fied based on his experience as a military observer with the British military in
Africa from 1940 to 1942 and on his extensive knowledge of the Far East and the
Soviet Union.?

Fellers’s military mission and promotion to Major General never happened for
Japan announced its acceptance of the Potsdam Proclamation on August 10 by
notifying Switzerland. On August 12 Fellers wrote to his wife the following
letter that emphasized MacArthur’s military campaigns, the atomic bomb, air
power, and psychological warfare as factors leading to a Japanese surrender but
ignored the Russian intervention:

Well the Atomic bomb—Air power—and PSYCHOLOGICAL WAR-
FARE did the job. Of course after Mac licked them on land and Nimitz on
the sea. The Jap indeed had a belly full of war. What fate for those great
samurai warriors.

As paragraph 12 of the Potsdam Declaration indicated, the idea of explicitly
allowing the retention of the Imperial Throne got stalled?? not only because of
disagreements among the American policymakers over assessing the internal po-
litical conditions in Japan as well as the progress in the development of the atomic
bomb, but also because of the divisions among the Japanese policymakers on the
issue of whether or not to surrender or fight to the bitter end.

In the end, after attempting to persuade the Japanese to surrender, two atomic
bombs were dropped on Japan based on the decision by top American
policymakers led by Truman, Stimson, James F. Byrnes, who had replaced Ed-
ward Stettinius as Secretary of State on July 3, and Marshall. On August 8,
shortly before the second atomic bomb explosion in Nagasaki, the Soviet Union
declared war on Japan. For former president Herbert C. Hoover, it probably was
ironic that his casualty estimate of half'a million to a million was used as Truman’s
and Stimson’s rationale for dropping the atomic bomb to save American lives
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because he believed it was possible to achieve a Japanese surrender through less
destructive means. Hoover commented on his feelings on August 8 about the first
atomic bomb explosion in Hiroshima in his letter to a friend: “It revolts my soul
.. .. The only difference between this [atomic bomb] and the use of poison gas
is the fear of retaliation. We alone have the bomb.”?

Fellers and the American Occupation of Japan, 1945

Whereas both Hoover and Grew did not mention the democratization of Japan
in their discussions with Truman, and Grew clearly indicated that democracy
would not take root in postwar Japan, the GHQ headed by MacArthur moved
quickly to democratize Japan. Although the Psychological Warfare Branch had
indicated its skepticism about democracy taking root in Japan, on the night before
leaving for Atsugi airfield, MacArthur told Fellers in Okinawa the following:

At night on his front porch the General outlined his policy in Japan:

L Disarm Japanese forces

2. Demobilize and send to their home

3. The heavy industry which remains be divested from war
activity

4. Open all schools—no check on instruction—except insert
course in civics

5. Hold free elections

6. Introduce trade unions

See the above will be accomplished through the Imperial Government ma-

chinery.

The fourth point would undergo considerable change during the occupation.
‘When MacArthur’s plane Bataan landed at Atsugi airfield Fellers was writing

in his diary the following: “Japan beautiful from air. Atsugi good airport. No

trouble anticipated.”* On the following day he wrote his wife the following:

The people are friendly and a vast army is disarming and demobilizing. If
they cared to turn on us Custer’s last stand would be a pale infusion. But
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the gov[ernmen]t and people are sincere and all will go well. But disarma-
ment and demobilization will require some 6 weeks. . . .

This is the strongest victory and surrender in history. 6 1/2 million
soldiers laying down their arms. The Air Force and Navy and merchant
marine are all gone home. Really our PWB [Psychological Warfare Branch]
scored a 10 strike but I doubt if ever credit is given.?

Then on September 6 Fellers wrote his wife about using the Emperor:

What a miracle that 7,000,000 Japanese surrendered. Think what it
would have cost to take Japan. Then suppose the idealists who are too
precious to fight would have had us clean up China. It’s better to let Charlie
Mac Hirohito doit. . . . [IJtwas well to use the Emperor even if later he does
not fit into the picture. (Italics mine.)*

Early in the occupation, Fellers, though feeling justified about maintaining his
policy regarding the Emperor from the war years, was unsure how the Imperial
Throne would fit in the reforms of Japan’s political, economic and social struc-
tures. On the following day, Fellers wrote his wife:

Please don’t be alarmed at brave columnists crying for revenge and attempt-
ing to push MacArthur into a blood bath. . . . There need be no alarm over
MacA([thur] not doing justice to his enemy of the past tour years and acting
for the best interests of our people.?

As disarmament and demobilization neared their end, Fellers commented to his
wife about the Emperor again, this time rather more humbly than when calling him
“Charlie.”

Soon—a month—we shall be as strong as we care to be—for a while how-
ever we were completely at the Emperor’s mercy.?

According to Fellers, he and MacArthur talked from 11 p.m. to 12 a.m. each
night for the three weeks until Mrs. Jean MacArthur’s arrival on September 19.
In a September 10, 1945 memorandum to MacArthur, after stating that “Loy-
alty to the Emperor brings ready acceptance of the Supreme Commander’s poli-
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cies,” he argued for the need to disseminate information that would further
MacArthur’s military, economic, political, and psychological objectives in Japan,
the last two being the following:

c. Political

(1)  To use rather than support the existing Japanese government.

(2)  To encourage the removal of obstacles to democratic tendencies.

(3) To promote political and civil liberties, right of assembly, public
discussions, education, free elections, and respect for human rights.

(4) Toencourage a free government responsible to the people.

(5)  Toadvocate conditions which will permit Japan’s eventual admission
as a respectable and peaceful member of the family of nations.

d. Psychological

(1)  To make clear the fact of Japan’s defeat.

(2)  To acquaint the Japanese with their responsibility for the war, with
the atrocities they have committed, and with their war guilt.

(3)  Tomakethe Japaneserealize that their militarists are to blame for their
defeat and suftering.

(4)  Toemphasize there is no intention to enslave the race.

(5)  To promote religious, political, class and racial tolerance.

(6)  To explain that occupying forces are necessary to destroy Japan’s war
potential but will be withdrawn as soon as objectives of occupation
have been accomplished.

Fellers also sent this memorandum to his former colleague at the Office of Strate-
gic Services and now its director, Major General William J. Donovan.*
Although the September 10 memorandum was silent on the future treatment of
the Emperor, this issue was taken up by Fellers in early October. On October 2,
1945, the day MacArthur dissolved U.S. Armed Forces in the Pacific Military
Government Section and established General Headquarters (GHQ), Supreme
Commander of Allied Powers (SCAP), Fellers submitted a memorandum to
MacArthur about the need to preserve the Imperial Throne so as to provide social
stability in the midst of social change and chaos resulting from the war, the spread
of Communism and Occupation reforms. Fellers argued that the Emperor had
been instrumental in effecting Japan’s surrender and its peaceful disarmament and
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the demobilization of Japanese forces, had a major spiritual value in the minds of
most Japanese and would not be an obstacle to creating a democratized Japan.
While vaguely referring to the September 25, 1945 article by a New York Times
Tokyo correspondent in which the Emperor, in answering four questions that the
reporter had submitted to him at the time of their meeting, stated that “he had no
intention to have the War Rescript used as Tojo used it” when the war began and
while emphasizing that “it can be established that the war did not stem from the
Emperor himself” based on “the highest and most reliable sources,” Fellers argued
the following:

66

The attitude of the Japanese toward their Emperor is not generally under-
stood. Unlike Christians, the Japanese have no God with whom to com-
mune. Their Emperor is the living symbol of the race in whom lies the
virtues of their ancestors. He is the incamation of national spirit, incapable
of wrong or misdeeds. Loyalty to him is absolute. Although no one fears
him, all hold their Emperor in reverential awe. They would not touch him,
look into his face, address him, step on his shadow. Their abject homage to
him amounts to a self abnegation sustained by a religious patriotism the
depth of which is incomprehensible to Westerners.

It would be a sacrilege to entertain the idea that the Emperor is on a level
with the people or any governmental official. To try him as a war criminal
would not only be blasphemous but a denial of spiritual freedom.

The Imperial War Rescript, 8 December 1941, was the inescapable re-
sponsibility of the Emperor who, as a head of then sovereign state, pos-
sessed the legal right to issue it. From the highest and most reliable sources,
it can be established that the war did not stem from the Emperor himself.
He has personally said that he had no intention to have the War Rescript
used as Tojo used it.

It is a fundamental American concept that the people of any nation have
the inherent right to choose their own govemnment. Were the Japanese given
this opportunity, they would choose the Emperor as the symbolic head of
the state. The masses are especially devoted to Hirohito. They feel that his
addressing the people personally make [sic] him unprecedentally [sic] close
to them. Hisrescript demanding peace filled them with joy. They know he
is no puppet now. They feel his retention is not a barrier to as liberal a
government as they are qualified to enjoy.
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In effecting our bloodless invasion, we requisitioned the services of the
Emperor. By his order seven million soldiers laid down their arms and are
being rapidly demobilized. Through his act hundreds of thousands of Ameri-
can casualties were avoided and the war terminated far ahead of schedule.
Therefore having made good use of the Emperor, to try him for war crimes,
to the Japanese, would amount to a breech of faith. Moreover, the Japanese
feel that unconditional surrender as outlined in the Potsdam Declaration
meant preservation of the State structure, which includes the Emperor.

If the Emperor were tried for war crimes the governmental structure
would collapse and a general uprising would be inevitable. The people will
uncomplainingly stand any other humiliation. Although they are disarmed,
there would be chaos and bloodshed. It would necessitate a large expedi-
tionary force with many thousands of public officials. The period of occu-
pation would be prolonged and we would have alienated the Japanese.

American long range interests require friendly relations with the Orient
based on mutual respect, faith and understanding. In the long run itis of
paramount, national importance that Japan harbor [sic] no lasting resent-
ment.

After MacArthur received this memorandum, whose content maintained what
Fellers had been advocating since the days of Psychological Warfare, he “thanked
[Fellers] for the studies, kept them in the top left hand drawer of his desk, and
referred to them time after time,” Fellers told Hoover. In sending this memoran-
dum to Hoover on October 3, Fellers argued to the former president that “The
Soviets want blood and revolution in Japan: hence to them all stabilizing influ-
ences are taboo.” On October 15 Hoover replied, stating that “Your memoran-
dum on the Emperor is so true, and without disclosing the source, I have given a
copy to General McCoy.” Frank McCoy was another person relatively close to
Hoover since the early 1930s and was recently appointed to represent the U.S. in
the Far Eastern Commission. Around this time Fellers also sent the memorandum
to his wife and commented that “Things out here look rather sinister tome. The
occupation progresses satisfactorally [sic] but the over all prospects are none too
good.™!

In writing the above memorandum, Fellers was perfectly aware of the fact that
the American government was still considering to putting the Emperor on trial for
war crimes and such a demand was also being made by the Soviet government and
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by some American newspapers. He showed these examples to MacArthur in a
memorandum on October 4 and argued that trying the Emperor, whom Fellers
thought the Soviets wanted to remove, “will lead to a general uprising” in Japan
and help, in Fellers’s opinion, stage a revolution in Japan as desired by the
Soviets. Fellers also doubted that trying the Emperor would lead to his
conviction*?in a “democratic court of law” in spite of his signing of the declara-
tion of war because “He did not exercise free will,” “Fear of life, threats by
military clique, lack of knowledge of true state of atfairs were involved,” and
“Attempts to effect surrender were accomplished at risk of [his] life.”??

Fellers’s arguments above regarding the Emperor in many ways were a continu-
ation of the arguments he had made during his days in the Psychological Warfare
Branch. Although Fellers’s friend Kawai Michi, the founder of Keisen Women’s
College and a founding member of the YWCA in Japan, did tell Fellers during
dinner on September 22 that “If Emperor is liquidated there will be a bloody
uprising” and the “Emperor is close to people, closer than any other Emperors
has been recently” and was “a good man,” Kawai Michi’s influence on Fellers in
writing the above October 3 memorandum may not have been decisive. Nonethe-
less it is safe to say it had some effect. Fellers noted that Kawai “had no idea of
atrocities and military reverses” because of censorship.*

On October 4 the Supreme Commander met Prince Konoye Fumimaro with
Chief of Staff Sutherland and Political Advisor George Atcheson. Fellers re-
corded in his diary that Konoye “blamed Communists and Militarists for the war
and exonerated the Royalty and Capitalists.” MacArthur told him to “Liberalize

2 ¢

Constitution,” “extend suffrage to women,” “have an election,” and “clear milita-
rists out of control.” When Konoye “protested that he did not have authority to
do this,” MacArthur replied that “T shall authorize all these changes—get busy.”*

On September 23 Fellers told his wife that he had been thinking about retiring
from the Army for a long time. He also stated the reason he had managed to
survive was because of MacArthur but Brigadier General was as far as he could
climb in the Army. Because Fellers was homesick and wanted to see his family,
whom he had not seen for over two years, and because he felt he could not get any
higher in the Army and was thinking about his post-retirement career options, he
took home leave starting on November 18.

Shortly before his departure for the U.S., Fellers met his old friend from their
years in West Point (Fellers was Class of 1918 while Wedemeyer was Class of
1919 and both attended the Army Command and General Staff School at Fort
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Leavenworth from 1933 to 1935), Lieutenant General Albert C. Wedemeyer,
Commander of U.S. Forces China Theatre, who wrote him the following on
November 11:

As you aptly stated, our two classes [at West Point] have served through
the years in the traditionally friendly atmosphere of members of the same
class.

Particularly did I enjoy the discussions we had concerning the situation in
the Far East. You have a fine grasp of the situation and I know that the
General [MacArthur] leans upon you heavily in the solution of his many
ticklish jobs. I am sorry that you could not accomplish your important
tasks under more pleasant circumstances; but, Bonner, throughout my ser-
vice it has been my experience that envy and jealousy often raise their head
and prevent officers working together in harmony. Iwish that there was
something that I might do to alleviate that situation. ButI can assure you
that a man of your character and ability with a straight forward approach
will win out in the end. You have lots of admirers and friends there and
elsewhere, so do not become discouraged.

Conditions in China appear to be serious. Perhaps my estimate is a little
hasty for I have only been back a few days but the attitude of Soviet Russia
as well as the ever increasing clashes with Chinese Communists, would
indicate that China will experience another civil war. If this occurs, Ibelieve
that Americans should be evacuated immediately for they would inevitably
become involved. We have been walking a tight rope for the past 12 months
and had only enjoyed a modicum of success because we could focus the
attention of dissident groups on the common enemy, the Japanese. Now,
powerful forces interested in self-aggrandizement are on the rampage.

Wedemeyer’s words of consolation to Fellers may have soothed his feelings and
his analysis of the situation in China reaffirmed Fellers’s aforementioned analysis
of the postwar situation in the Far East in spring 1945.%

While in the U.S., Fellers met several representatives from both houses of
Congress, business leaders, a labor movement leader, and government leaders, and
journalists and gathered information about the domestic political situation for
MacArthur and submitted a report regarding this issue on the day of his return to
Tokyo on January 19.”7 In addition, Fellers discussed post-retirement careers
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with George E. Tjams, Director of the Veterans of Foreign Wars of the United
States, Herbert Hoover and General Robert Wood, Chairman of Sears and a
leading member of the MacArthur-for-President movement during wartime.*

Upon his return to Tokyo on the night of January 19, 1946, Fellers learned that
though he would continue to serve as MacArthur’s military secretary his chief
task would be acting as Secretary General of the Allied Council for Japan. In
addition, Fellers was depressed by the news that he would be demoted to his
prewar status from his wartime temporary status of Brigadier General. Fellers
regretted that had he known this he would have chosen not to return. On Febru-
ary 4 Fellers learned that his status would go down to the temporary rank of
Colonel as of April 25, 1935 and was depressed by the fact that his final rank
might even go down to Lieutenant Colonel; this change in his military status
became effective immediately. (Fellers would retire in the fall of 1946 a Colonel
but later his permanent rank was restored to Brigadier General.) Finally, two
other things depressed Fellers. First, the fact that even though he would still be
MacArthur’s Military Secretary, his office would no longer be right next door to
him after he became Secretary General of the Allied Council for Japan (ACJ )in
February, Fellers wrote his wife on January 24, that “The new job will be inter-
esting but again I'm pick and shovel boy while a two star man takes the job as
Mac[Arthur]’s Deputy.” Second, while Fellers was the chief confidant of
MacArthur before the former’s home leave, he discovered and wrote his wife on
January 27 that Brigadier General Courtney Whitney, with whom he did not get
along, was now “the big shot”;* as D. Clayton James points out, by “the autumn
of 1945 Whitney had replaced [chief of staff Lieutenant General Richard K]
Sutherland at the top of the list of MacArthur’s confidants, and he was the only
one who had the privilege of entering the Supreme Commander’s office without
an appointment, except for the chief of staff and the senior aides,” which included
Fellers.

Whitney clinched the top of MacArthur’s list in December 1945 while Fellers
was away at home in Washington, D.C. After the dissolution of the United States
Armed Forces in the Pacific Military Government Section and the establishment
of the General Headquarters (GHQ), Supreme Commander of the Allied Powers
(SCAP) on October 2, 1945, Whitney was appointed by MacArthur in Decem-
ber to replace Brigadier General William E. Crist as the head of the Government
Section in the GHQ that undertook the legal, political and constitutional reforms
of Japan. In December Sutherland left Tokyo for retirement and Major General
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Richard J. Marshall, deputy chief of staff, became MacArthur’s chief of staft.*’

So anguished was Fellers by these developments that on January 28 he submit-
ted a request for transfer to Washington, D.C. to MacArthur. On the following
day, Fellers, probably for the first time in his life had a brush with his Com-
mander-in-Chief, which he described as “somewhat like this™:

Q[uestion by MacArthur]
Alnswer by Fellers]
GO [MacArthur]

A
GO

Me [Fellers]
GO
Me
GO
Me
GO

He the GO

Why do you want to go to Washington?
That’s where my wife and child are.

I mean why do you want to leave, you
are not mad are you?

No-Sir.

1 have given you the most responsible
job under my command. I thought you
wanted it.

I like the new job all right.

Isit because] am changing your assignment?
No, Sir.

Then it must be because of your reduction.
No Sir. I expected that.

To Dickey M (Richard J. Marshall, chief
of staff). Show Bonner my last efficiency
report on him.

[Dickey—I will tomorrow—he ain’t yet.
Don’t you know why I put in to go home?
No I don’t.

Because you asked that certain officers
reduced be permitted to continue asbriga-
diers and did not include me on your list
as among those to be retained.

That is not entirely correct. Iasked that
the AG [Adjutant General], G1, G2, G3
and G4 continue until June 30. It was on
the basis of jobs not efficiency. Icreated
the job of Mil[itary] Sec[retar]y, which

Washington frowned upon. Ihad no pos-
sible chance of holding your Brigadier].
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Gleneral]. With that assignment. (Again

he referred to my efficiency report.)
Then the GO said Let me see that application. I gave it to

him and he destroyed it saying: If you

still want to go after thinking it over for

24 h[ou]rs put in another and I’11 ok it.

He said I should have come to him and talked it over before the letter was

submitted. Isaid I didn’t want to talk and I thought if you were inditferent
as to whether or not I was reduced—and were not indifferent toward others,
I"d better clear out—I felt if this were true you wouldn’t mind.*

After this confrontation, Fellers seemed to have decided to stay at least until
summer. The next day Fellers wrote the following to his wife that “He seemed
friendly as ever today as we came up in the elevator together.”* By mid-May
Fellers took the job as the director of public relations for the Veterans of Foreign
War [V.F.W.] in Washington, D.C. starting in August and officially retired in
November 1946, but in the meantime, as he wrote his wife on F ebruary 4, the
following thoughts were running through his mind:

I'blow hot and cold on retiring 1 July. . . . Ido believe I have been as near the
top of the Army as I can ever get. Have had no combat command—been
shot at plenty—in combat and command duty is a must for those who go on
up. Moreover shall always be kneedled [sic] more or less for anti-British,
Pro G.O. [MacArthur], Asiatic hand etc. complexes. Perhaps what I need
is a good throwing out.®

Although Fellers entertained the idea of bringing his family and staying in Japan
for another year because he could also conduct research on “how Japan got in the
war,” a topic that “would fit into my idea of going with [Robert] Wood or
[Herbert] Hoover,” who believed in the back-door thesis on how America got into
World War II,*by the end of March Fellers was determined to retire. He wrote
his wife on March 1 that Joint Chiefs of Staff Dwight Eisenhower, with whom
Fellers had had bad relations since their days in the Philippines in October 1937,
would never promote him and on April 4 Fellers wrote to his wife that “Looks
like Ike [Eisenhower] may have had a finger in the pie”; Eisenhower perceived
Fellers as contributing to the estrangement of relations since then between him
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and MacArthur, who was serving as Military Adviser to the Philippines. In this
same letter, however, Fellers indicated that his prospects for a post-retirement
job may be gaining momentum because on that day he received a letter from his
friend Congressman James Van Zandt about the V.F.W. considering hiring him as
a public relations director. On April 10 Fellers received a letter from George E.
Tjams dated April 2 saying that Fellers, if he wished, was likely to get that job.*

In spite of these events and thoughts they did not affect his professional life.
Fellers wrote his wife on January 24 that he considered his new task at the Allied
Council for Japan as “a real good job.” As Fellers wrote his wife on January 30
MacArthur thought the Russians were going to use it to “de-horse” the Supreme
Commander of the Allied Powers and Fellers thought his “OSS experience [from
1942 to 1943 in Washington, D.C.] might help [him] a bit” because “[w]e may
have a hot time™ at the Council. When the Council met for the first time on April
5 with representatives from the U.S., China, Britain and the Soviet Union (as well
as a Japanese observer), MacArthur declared that it was merely an advisory
organization and delegated his chairmanship to his deputy William F. Marquat.
MacArthur never again attended any ACJ meetings afterwards. As Fellers stated
in his letter to Dorothy Fellers on April 14,

It is becoming increasingly clear that the Soviet member of the Allied
Council for Japan is out to make trouble. They have started a propaganda
war from Moscow that the Emperor must go, that MacA[rthur] is too soft
to administer, etc. In the election the Commies scarcely got to first base
altho[ugh] they had money, plans and leaders. One reason is they are
opposed to the Emperor and the Japanese people are not.*

From February to the time of his departure from Japan in late July, Fellers had
three tasks in addition to help setting up the Allied Council on Japan: (1) finish
writing the “Report on the Psychological Warfare in the Southwest Pacific Area,
1944-1945” (PWB report), which he submitted to MacArthur on March 15; (2)
collect historical documents on the Japanese-American war for Herbert Hoover,
who was writing a book highly critical of New Deal diplomacy and for himself,
part of which were used to write the PWB report; and (3) act as a liaison between
MacArthur and people close to the Emperor to reassure the latter that MacArthur
was preventing the prosecution of the Emperor as a war criminal.

The most important task for Fellers, then, was to continue handling the ques-
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tions regarding the Emperor. While Fellers was away, MacArthur had received a
secret directive cabled from the Joint Chiefs of Staff Dwight Eisenhower that
requested MacArthur to secretly gather evidence for the issue regarding the
Emperor’s connections to war crimes. The fact that MacArthur did not respond
to this directive until January 25, 1946 most reasonably can be explained by the
absence of Fellers. And when a cable was sent back to Eisenhower on this issue
on January 25 in MacArthur’s name, the real author was Fellers because the cable
was based on the October 2 memorandum; the cable emphasized that the Imperial
Throne was revered by the Japanese and general chaos and an uprising would
result if the Emperor was tried as a war criminal, an unreasonable situation
because there were those in Japan who believed the Emperor was a figurehead in
declaring war against the U.S. and resisting such a measure would have endangered
him and because tremendous increase in occupation forces and manpower would
be needed to recreate social stability.*” And given the fact that on March 20
Fellers, most probably at his own discretion, revealed the content of and prob-
ably showed this cable to the diplomat and interpreter for Emperor Hirohito,
Terasaki Hidenari, with whom Fellers got acquainted on February 20, the day
Terasaki was appointed as an interpreter for the Emperor, and became friends
after finding out on March 8 that Terasaki’s American wife Gwen was a relative
of his.

These developments back up the point that the January 25 cable was written
by Fellers. While one cannot dismiss the possibility that MacArthur may have
written that cable because he always had the Fellers memorandum in his desk, it
seems reasonable to think that Fellers was entrusted to handle matters concerning
the Emperor.

On March 6, the day after Australia submitted its list of names of war criminals
to be tried in the International Military Tribunal for the Far East to the Interna-
tional Prosecution Section of GHQ, Fellers met former Navy Minister Yonai
Mitsumasa. Fellers, following the line of thinking revealed to his wife in Septem-
ber, told Yonai that although he did not worship the Emperor and did not care
what would happen to the Emperor or the Emperor system fifteen or twenty
years from now, GHQ needed the cooperation of the Emperor to carry out the
reforms. Fellers also told Yonai that certain Allied powers and some American
policymakers with “un-American” view wanted the Emperor tried as a war crimi-
nal, particularly the Soviet Union which wanted revolution in Japan. The two
men agreed that in preparing for the upcoming International War Crimes Tribunal
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of the Far East starting in early May, the Japanese government should place the
entire blame of war responsibility on Tojo and Fellers told Yonai that the Japa-
nese government should make sure Tojo would state that he would have declared
war on the U.S. even if the Emperor had opposed it. Yonai told Fellers that he
was sure that Shimada Shigetaro, the Navy Minister in the Tojo cabinet, was
prepared to take such a position and that Tojo’s Japanese lawyer, upon receiving
a call from Yonai about the content of the meeting, had visited Tojo at Sugamo
Prison who told him he was prepared to take such a stance. On March 20 the
deputy chamberlain of the Imperial Throne, Kinoshita Michio, received a report
from Terasaki about the conversations he had had with Fellers about the Emperor.
According to this report, which most probably the Emperor was informed about,
Fellers told Terasaki that though he never had discussions with MacArthur about
the Emperor’s abdication, MacArthur did not want the Emperor to step down,
and Fellers referred to the January 25 cable that MacArthur had sent to Washing-
ton, D.C. When Terasaki asked Fellers if it was possible for MacArthur to make
a public statement to quiet the media and public opinion about the possibility of
the Emperor’s abdication, he responded that it was impossible. Furthermore,
when Terasaki commented that the Emperor seemed to feel morally responsible
for the war, Fellers, following his line of argument since the days of Psychological
Warfare, stated that the Emperor was technically responsible for the war but was
not responsible for it politically, legally and morally. In closing his conversations
with Terasaki, he stated that the content of the cable to Washington, D.C. should
be treated as a highly confidential matter.”®

“The Report on Psychological Warfare in the Southwest Pacific Area,
1944-1945” (PWB Report) by Bonner Fellers

In his “Report on Psychological Warfare in the Southwest Pacific Area, 1944-
1945, which he submitted to General MacArthur on March 15, 1946, Fellers had
the following to say about his activities:

Although the Japanese Government took stringent measures to discredit
our news and prevent its reaching the people, the majority either had grape-
vine knowledge of our broadcast or had seen leaflets and news sheets.
Nearly all of the people disbelieved the news we disseminated until the
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heavy bombings during the Spring and Summer of 1945. Extensive interro-
gation reveals that at the time of their surrender the people were beginning
to believe our leaflets and news sheets. Nearly all of those interviewed
admitted the effectiveness of our activities and a number were convinced
that Psychological Warfare hastened the end of the war and facilitated the
occupation,. . . .

In the Pacific, Psychological Warfare influenced the enemy forces and
civil population. As a corollary, a free flow of news in time of peace leads
to better understanding among peoples and thereby lessens the likelihood of
war. In peace the psychological weapon of the military establishment gives
way to the free and unrestricted dissemination of information by civil agen-
cies.®

In describing the impact of psychological warfare on Japan’s decision to sur-
render and emphasizing the Emperor’s leadership in terminating the war as well as
disarming and demobilizing the armed forces, Fellers used the English translation
of the extracts from the Kido Diary, a memorandum of conversations regarding
the process leading to Japan’s surrender from April to August 15 between Sakomizu
Hisatsune, Secretary General in the Suzuki Kantaro cabinet, and Max Bishop at
the latter’s residence in the Imperial Hotel on November 9, 1945, Interrogation
Records and personal interviews with Japanese public tigures who played impor-
tant roles in the war, particularly his interview with Kido, to write up the section
on the final months of the Japanese-American War. The main point in the psy-
chological warfare report stressed the fact that psychological warfare played an
important role in inducing the Japanese surrender. Incorporating the arguments
made in spring of 1945, the report stated that

In April 1945 it had become clear to Psychological Warfare planners that
all the elements essential for surrender already existed. Japan had lost her
fleet and merchant shipping; her air force was becoming impotent; her troops
had been destroyed in the Philippines and key Pacific Islands; her industry
was disrupted. The only obstacle preventing surrender was psychological >

In writing the section on the Emperor’s decision to surrender, Fellers in annex 28
of the report introduced the interview that he had with Kido on February 24, the
content of which somewhat overlapped with the January 24 interview.*!
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Early in the moming of August 14, Japanese translations of the Potsdam
Declaration and the Allied reply amplifying its terms were dropped on the
Palace grounds. Kido went directly to the Emperor with a leaflet. He
explained that the leaflets would have a profound effect on the Armed
Forces and the people, and that every moment peace was delayed was
dangerous. . . .

On the other hand, Kido believed the Potsdam Declaration would mean
something else to the people. They too had been deceived by the milita-
rists, but they had seen more of the devastation from our air strikes than had
the troops. What was more important to Kido, the people had learned the
true military situation from our leaflets and news sheets. Many reports had
come to the Emperor personally from all over Japan that the people wanted
peace, realized Japan had been defeated, and would welcome the Imperial
Rescript ending the war.*?

In recording this, Fellers showed the draft of his Psychological Warfare Report
completed on February 23 to Kido and Kido commented on it.** These inter-
views with Kido were also important in that in Annex 27 Fellers wrote a more
detailed version of Japan’s decision to surrender than in the section pertaining to
this topic in the main report introduced below. It was from the Kido Diary and
probably during his interviews with Kido that he learned that “Some time in May
the Emperor confided in Marquis Kido, Lord Keeper of the Privy Seal, his desire
to expedite the termination of the war. . . . [O]n June 22, the Emperor entirely on
his own initiative, invited six members of the Supreme Council for the Directors
of War to a conference to his Palace. He directed that steps be taken immediately
to bring about an early end to the war.” Afterwards, Fellers, using the Konoye
memoirs and Kido Diaries, discussed the attempt by the Emperor and the Japa-
nese government to send Konoye to Moscow to negotiate peace and the Soviet
unwillingness to receive him. Then, Fellers in Annex 27 stated that the two
atomic bombs and the Russian declaration of war against Japan permitted the
Emperor to take “advantage of the drama created by these terrific events” and
insist “that peace be made at once and on the basis of the Potsdam Declaration.”*

The following section in the main report reflected Annex 27 and the continuity
in Fellers’s argument regarding the importance of the Emperor in securing Japa-
nese surrender mentioned in his October 2, 1945 memorandum and documents
from the Psychological Warfare years.
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The Emperor, who knew the true military situation, was unwilling to
permit the war to drift until invasion. As early as May, he had expressed his
determination to stop the war, and on 22 June had directed the Supreme
Council for the Directors of War to terminate hostilities. His decision was
prompted by:

Military disaster

Heavy destruction by air strikes
Impairment of war production
Suffering of the people

After much wrangling in Council and as a result of the Emperor’s repeated
commands, Ambassador Sato in Moscow was instructed on 12 July to
approach the Soviet Government with a view of opening peace negotia-
tions. However, not only did the Russians fail to give Sato a reply, but
Stalin and Molotov left Moscow on 14 July to attend the Potsdam Confer-
ence. Meanwhile, Tokyo continued to press Sato for Stalin’s answer. . . .

The reaction to the Potsdam Declaration by members of the Supreme
Council for the Directors of War resulted in a deadlock, but to the Emperor
the Declaration offered a satisfactory peace and he directed its acceptance.
But the Council bickered further. Finally, at 11:00 pm, 9 August, the
Emperor again personally directed its acceptance and gave his reasons:

From the start of the war, the militarists had misrepresented the
true situation.

To prolong the war would destroy the Japanese people and be
disastrous to the world situation.

Althoughmoved by the sacrificesof the Japanese, he wasconvinced
that termination of the war was in accordance with the will of God.

However, the Council still continued to ponder. Finally, on the 14%, the
Emperor, who sensed that the crisis might momentarily become chaotic,
issued his Imperial Rescript ending the war.

The Emperor realized the risk he was taking, for the young militarists
were determined to fight it out. He could expect therefore violent and
fanatical counter-measures against the action upon which he had deter-
mined. His movement would be restricted; his Imperial Rescript would be
branded as a fake not to be followed. Extreme haste was essential lest, when
the Army Forces learned of the terms of surrender, they would turn against
their government.
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But the Emperor felt our air strikes had discredited the militarists in the
eyes of the people; that the population was war-weary and that they had
knowledge of and would accept the Potsdam Declaration and the Allied
reply amplifying its terms. He accordingly issued his Imperial Rescript and
broadcast it to the people, confident that somehow they would understand
and permit his leadership to prevail.

Thus seven million soldiers, tough physically and spiritually peacefully
laid down their arms and turned toward home. This historically unprec-
edented surrender possibly shortened the war twelve to eighteen months
and, on the basis of experience in the Philippine campaign, prevented some
450,000 American battle casualties.*

In addition to this presentation, Fellers, referring to the aforementioned inter-
view with Kido on February 24 and the August 14 diary entry, presented the case
that the leaflets dropped on August 14 to inform the Japanese about the response
by the Allies to the Japanese query on the Imperial Throne prompted the Em-
peror to commence the meeting to finalize the decision to surrender.*

When comparing Annex 27 and the aforementioned section of the main report,
Fellers seemed to have deliberately left out the atomic bombs and the Russian
entry to war against Japan as well as their impact on Japan’s decision to surren-
der. Fellers may have done this to emphasize the impact of the psychological
warfare. It is interesting in that, whereas in the aforementioned August 12, 1945
letter to his wife Fellers acknowledged the contribution of MacArthur’s military
actions, air power, atomic bombs and psychological warfare but ignored the
Russian entry as a factor, Annex 27 acknowledged the impact of the Russian
intervention. As the conversations between Hoover and MacArthur in early
May will reveal later, MacArthur had changed his position about the need for
Russian entry which he had been advocating prior to Japanese surrender and
Fellers, who had always been wary of the Soviet Union, perhaps took this shift
into consideration and decided to leave the Russian entry factor presented by
Japanese policymakers outside of the main report in Annex 27.

On March 10, as the report was all but finished, Fellers wrote his wife that on
March 9 he had received the following message from the Emperor through Terasaki,
who met the Emperor for the first time at Fellers’s prodding and was probably
asked by Fellers to ask the Emperor about the above point.*’
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[T]he PWB report is all over but putting it together. Final typing starts
tomorrow. It’s only 18 pages long—well documented, however. hoped to
hold its length back so the GO (MacArthur) would read it. We shall see. If
I say it myself it’s free of punch. Yesterday obtained a statement from the
Emperor sent to me personally. Like this: That Psychological Warfare was
very effective—maybe too effective that P.W. [Psychological Warfare]
prompted him to cancel a scheduled critical meeting of Marshals over which
he was to have presided and that P WW. forced him to hasten the end of the war
because he feared that if the soldiers got hold of those leaflets they might
take drastic measures such as a coup d’etat.*®

In hearing this response from the Emperor, Fellers may have lent a copy of at
least some sections of the report and perhaps some other documents from his
Psychological Warfare days pertaining to his view of the Emperor to Terasaki on
March 8, because on April 1 Terasaki wrote in his diary that he had returned “the
document(s)” to Fellers.

On page 16 in the main section of the PWB report, Fellers incorporated the
above message from the Emperor by stating that on March 9, Terasaki, the liaison
officer for the Emperor, had conveyed to him the following:

That the Psychological Warfare leaflets and newspapers were very effec-
tive; that Psychological Warfare prompted him to cancel a scheduled . . .
conference on the critical war situation over which he would have presided
and that Psychological Warfare forced him to hasten the end of the war
because he feared that if the soldiers got‘hold of those leaflets they might
take drastic measures such as a coup d’etat.

On April 6 Fellers sent seventeen to eighteen copies of the PWB report with all
the annexes to the War Department and his wife; Colonel D.W. Johnston, Chief of
Propaganda Branch in the War Department’s Military Intelligence (G-2) Division
was impressed by Fellers’s report and requested him in June to send additional
sets of the report so that he could distribute them to relevant government organi-
zations including the Navy.*

On April 20, although MacArthur called on Fellers to praise him for the fact
that the State Department in Secretary Bymes’s name had sent a telegram to
MacArthur on April 19 to express the Department’s favorable view about Fellers’s
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argument that “Free flow of news in time of peace leads to better understanding
among people and thereby lessens likelihood of war,” and asked for furnishing
evidence supporting this opinion, Fellers was shocked to find out that MacArthur
still did not have the copy of the report that was sent to him through deputy
Chief of Staff Major General Stephen J. Chamberlain, who disliked Fellers ever
since he had bypassed Chamberlain, who was his boss in G-3 (War Planning), to
receive authorization from MacArthur to execute the plan to land in Hollandia,
New Guinea tormulated by Fellers, a plan that was completed very successtully.
Fellers briefly stepped out of MacArthur’s room and got a copy of the PWB
report from a colleague in a nearby office and handed it to MacArthur, who told
Fellers as he was leaving the room, “Bonner, I assure you I shall read this report
with great interest.”

During his conversation with MacArthur, Fellers also found out that Chamber-
lain had deliberately delayed MacArthur’s order to recommend the War Depart-
ment give Fellers a Distinguished Service Medal for his Psychological Warfare
activities during wartime. This matter had been addressed by Woodall Greene to
MacArthur during their conversation on March 2 and MacArthur, who had a high
opinion of Fellers’s psychological campaign, was perplexed because he had put
Fellers’s name on the list but apparently somebody had deleted it; when MacArthur
asked Greene why Fellers did not address the issue by himself, Greene stated
“he’s too good a soldier to complain.” Fellers wrote his wife on March 21 that
MacArthur “simply hit the roof” and a short while later Fellers’s name was put
back on the list. But the processing of sending his name to the War Department
seemed to have been deliberately delayed. Furthermore, because Chamberlain
was the one who actually wrote the recommendation letter (MacArthur did not
bother with administrative details), it was not until May 30 that the situation got
straightened out.®

Fellers and the English Version of the Emperor’s Monologue

The Emperor made a similar remark about the leaflet dropping on August 14 in
his recollection of the war years, which we will now examine.

Shortly after Fellers completed the “Report on Psychological Warfare,” a letter
dated April 22, 1946 from Fellers to his wife shows that the Emperor was eager
to contact him.* On May 3 Terasaki, with authorization from the Emperor and
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encouragement from Foreign Minister Yoshida Shigeru, told Fellers about the
details of the Emperor’s monologue, a record of the Emperor’s own recollection of
wartime created with the assistance of his aides including Terasaki during four
days in the second half of March and early April (March 18, 20, 22 and April 8),
and secured an English translation of the Emperor’s monologue from Terasaki
Hidenari.® This document was created in case the Far Eastern War Crimes Tribu-
nal decided to have the Emperor testify or tried. Some differences in the Japanese
version and the English version include the fact that the latter does not have
sections on Hirohito’s recollection of post-Pear] Harbor years leading to Japan’s
surrender. Hence, the English version does not include the Emperor’s discussion
of his decision to surrender but discusses why he could not oppose the decision
to go to war:

IfT as Emperor would have exercised veto around November or December
1941 there might have been terrible disorder. The trusted men around me
would have been killed, I myself might have been killed or kidnapped.
Actually I was virtually a prisoner and powerless. My opposition would
never have been known outside the Palace. It might have gone to most
barbaric war, and it would have been impossible to stop the war at all, no
matter what I did.*

This argument is similar to the views of the role of the Emperor in Japan’s
decision to attack the U.S. as argued by Fellers above. Furthermore, it is similar
to the aforementioned September 25 New York Times interview article.

Finally, an English translation of the sections covering the post-Pearl Harbor
years to the Emperor’s decision to surrender may exist because Fellers had the
following in his Terasaki file:

The following is told by the Emperor

When did I think Japan would meet certain defeat? When American
soldiers penetrated, or pushed back through Stanley Mountains in New
Guinea.

I'was trying to take advantage of a good opportunity to discuss the peace,
but I did not want to surrender before German surrender because Japan and
Germany had an agreement not to go on separate peace.®
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May 1946: MacArthur, Hoover, Fellers

Shortly before Hoover visited Tokyo in early May 1946 as part of his global
tour on famine relief mandated by President Harry S. Truman, a visit that coin-
cided with the opening of the Far Eastern War Crimes Tribunal on May 3,
MacArthur appointed Fellers to work closely with Hoover while the former
President was in Tokyo.% Hoover stayed at the American Embassy where Fellers
also resided and the two were together frequently.®’” During Hoover s visit, Fellers
informed him about the Emperor’s monologue, a document prepared by the
Emperor and translated by the diplomat Terasaki Hidenari whose wife, Gwen,
was arelative of Fellers. Hoover told Fellers that publicly disclosing the docu-
ment was premature, given the global animosity towards Hirohito, including in
the U.S. Hoover told Fellers during the visit the following regarding the recent
Japanese-American War and the Japanese documents Fellers presented to Hoover:

1t is essential, Mr. Hoover believed, for the Americans to understand
Japan thoroughly. If civilization is to survive, he feels we must live together
in harmony for the thousands of years to come, and that the hates and
prejudices and misunderstandings of the recent war must be buried as
promptly as is humanly possible. In the United States at present the hatred
for Japan engendered by the war is still keen and fresh. It will be some time
yet before an unbiased presentation and evaluation of Japan can be made by
the American people. This is the time, however, to collect the essential
source material, so that it may be studied and evaluated and prepared for
release to the American and Japanese public at the proper time.

Mr. Hoover was tremendously gratified that the Konoye Memoir had
been made available and that information from the Emperor, explaining his
position during the war and in forcing the peace, is being prepared. Because
of American bitterness, Mr. Hoover said that material from the Emperor
would not be as effective now as a little later. He would use it, however, the
moment an emergency justified.

The “emergency” Hoover was referring to was most likely the possibility that the
Emperor might be tried in the war crimes tribunal that began on May 3. Fellers
may have showed Hoover the English translation of the monologue that covers
from 1927 to Pear]l Harbor but this is unclear. Furthermore, there is a possibility
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that there is an English version of the monologue covering the post-Pear] Harbor
attack until the Japanese surrender because there are some documents in the
Terasaki file of the Fellers Papers English translation of the Emperor commenting
on why he decided to seek surrender in May 1945, all of which are in the Japanese
version.%

Hoover told Fellers “if former Premier Suzuki kept a diary, it would perhaps be
among the most valuable of all documents” because “the appointment of Suzuki
... was the Emperor’s signal to the United States that he was seeking peace™,;
although Suzuki did publish a short memoir entitled Shusen no Hyojo from Rodo
Bunkasha in August 1946, it is unknown whether Hoover and Fellers got hold of
this.™

On the day of his departure, Hoover told Fellers “Go call on Suzuki for me—
I have not the time—and tell him that I think his appointment was a signal the
Emperor was trying to surrender.” When Fellers visited Suzuki with an inter-
preter and told him “what Mr. Hoover said, he jumped to his feet and started
pacing the floor. ‘It was a signal, and we never knew why we didn’t hear from the
United States on this thing.” He repeated it was a signal!” Later, Fellers obtained
a three-page English translation of Suzuki’s recollections about the pre-surrender
period, in which Suzuki stated the following:

[TThe Emperor called me, at the age of 77, from retirement and on 7 April
1945 made my [sic] Prime Minister. It was the Emperor’s signal to his
people and to the world that he was seeking peace. This was evident to all
for in no way could I be considered as a militarist; rather for many years I
had been the especial target of the militarist.

On the night of August 14, 1945, the Emperor forced his Cabinet to
accept the terms of the Potsdam Declaration. As Prime Minister I had
strongly supported the Emperor in his demand for immediate peace. I
returned to my home about two-thirty the morning of 15 August. We all
feared a coup d’etat from the militarists who were unwilling to surrender—
even after the Emperor had so directed. Ihad been wamed that some
soldiers and radical students planned to surround my house in the early
morning hours. Mrs. Suzuki and I left the house just before they arrived.
The rebels set up machine guns and riddled my house, thinking we must
have been killed by the machine gun fire. Then the soldiers burned my
house down to ashes.”
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If Hoover told Fellers his views on Suzuki, did he tell Fellers about his efforts
in late May 1945? During his stay in Tokyo, Hoover told Fellers about his
meeting with Truman in late May and the memorandum he later submitted to him.

Mr. Hoover suggested that the President should make a public speech
defining specifically the term unconditional surrender, and explaining that
the United States had no intent to enslave the Japanese or interfere with
their government so long as it represented a free expression of the people’s
will, removed for all time the militarists and eliminated obstacles to demo-
cratic processes.

Mr. Truman agreed, took notes as Mr. Hoover talked, and said he would
ask the State Department to prepare a speech along the line indicated. But
this speech was never made. Mr. Hoover gave the clear impression that it
might easily have been Soviet influence in the State Department which
insisted that the war continue until the USSR entered, and could have a hand
in the peace and postwar settlement.”

Fellers’s record of the conversation differs from the record kept by Hoover in late
May 1945 in that Hoover back then did not talk about bringing democracy to
Japan, although he discussed the need to bring back liberal forces to Japanese
polity. Furthermore, Hoover’s impression of why his May 30 memorandum to
the President was not followed is influenced by his notion, which was shared in
American society in the early postwar years, that the State Department was
infiltrated by Soviet agents; in the aforementioned response to Fellers’s memo-
randum regarding the Emperbr in early October 1945, Hoover had told Fellers
that “Among the men sent from the Department of State to Japan are some
former Communists or fellow-travelers,” including John Service, who was later
unfairly persecuted during the McCarthy era.” Finally it is unclear whether
Truman told Hoover during their meeting that Hoover’s suggestion was going to
be evaluated to the State Department and whether Truman took notes of their
conversation; regardless of what Hoover thought, his ideas as well as Grew’s had
met opposition expressed by Byrnes, Acheson and McLeish.” Fellers seemed to
have not kept this episode regarding Hoover’s request to convey a message to
Suzuki to himself. On May 14 Terasaki seemed to have talked for a long time to
the Emperor regarding Fellers’s meeting with Suzuki.”™

Since meeting Hoover in December 1945 inNew York, Fellers had been helping
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him gather historical documents pertaining to Japanese military aggressions since
the late 1920s. Stanford University’s Hoover Institution on War, Revolution and
Peace, which Hoover founded right after World War I, had established an office in
the autumn of 1945 in Tokyo to start collecting documents on wartime Japan.™
On March 21, Fellers wrote Hoover that he and Lieutenant Colonel Hubert G.
Schenck, a former Stanford geologist who was now the head of the GH(Q’s Natu-
ral Resources section, “a two-volume typewritten copy of Prince Konoye’s
memoirs.” Fellers told Hoover that this was lent by the Imperial Household
Library and the Emperor had authorized this decision. Although Fellers could not
secure the original from the Konoye family, the memoirs were microfilmed and
sent to Stanford’s Hoover Institution in late March. On June 10 the English
translation of the Konoye memoirs were completed and afterwards Fellers un-
doubtedly sent them to Hoover.” In addition, on May 21 Fellers sent Hoover the
English translation of the extracts from the Diary kept by the former top advisor
to the Emperor, Marquis Kido Koichi, Lord Keeper of the Privy Seal. Shortly
before his departure from Japan, Fellers visited Kido in Sugamo Prison. After
telling Kido that Life magazine had won the copyright to publish the Konoye
memoir, he asked Kido to grant Hoover the copyright to publish the Kido Diaries
in the U.S.; Kido wrote in his diary that he saw the political value in maintaining
ties with Hoover and Fellers and preferred Hoover as his first choice if he were to
grant such a right but could not decide upon it given the fact that the diaries were
being used for the war crimes tribunal.”™

While Fellers was with Hoover, he told the former president about taking the
offer from the VE.W. Hoover encouraged him to do so. Afterwards, on the night
of May 5 Fellers informed MacArthur that he was going to take an offer from the
VEW. The General encouraged him to do so and stated that Fellers was the right
person for the job but suggested he make sure the offer was for at least two to five
years; on that point, Van Zandt informed Fellers in late May that he would take
care of the issue regarding Fellers being retained by the V.E.W. for two years.™

In pursuing his new job at the V.F.W., Fellers was expected by Director Ijams
to do the following:

The Veterans of Foreign Wars is the fastest growing veterans organization
in the country. We now have about 1,400,000 World War Il members and
applications are piling in faster than they can be processed. The Organiza-
tion needs some top-flight liaison work with the Army, Navy, Marine
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Corps and Coast Guard, contacts with columnists and feature writers to see
that the work the V.F.W. is doing be kept before the public, to act as advisor
of international affairs and various similar types of work. We maintain a
Public Relations Office here in Washington, and it is not our thought that
you would do routine work of public relations, but that you would act in
more of a liaison capacity with the writers and columnists whom you know
on general policy matters. . . . The position such as Thave in mind [for you]
would place you in a most advantageous post to accomplish many con-
structive things, some of which we discussed in your office nearly a year
ago. Because of the large number of veterans in the country today Ineed not
remind you of the influence which they will have in determining the desti-
nies of our country. Our veterans will continue to be a constructive and
stabilizing group, if they are properly led.*

Conclusion

Although Fellers must have felt miserable about the fact that Whitney and his
men were in charge of restructuring the Imperial Throne and the Japanese Consti-
tution under MacArthur’s orders after February 3, 1946,% he was undoubtedly
not opposed to these developments as the Throne and the Emperor were being
preserved under a new and democratic political system. Fellers’s greatest contri-
bution during the first twelve months after the Japanese surender was his influ-
ential role in spearheading the argument to protect the Imperial Throne and the
Emperor. Without Fellers, MacArthur probably could not have formulated a
relatively coherent strategy to address the question of retaining the Imperial
Throne. The other contribution by Fellers was his role in constructing the “missed
opportunity” thesis among leading political figures in the U.S. and Japan.

Many years after his departure from Japan for retirement from the military,
Fellers wrote in his recollection of his participation in the American Occupation of
Japan about why he wrote the memorandum and how helpful Kawai Michi was:

Among a very few influential members of General MacArthur’s staff
there were sinister convictions implied, but most carefully expressed, that
the Emperor should be tried as a war criminal. To me this was not only
unjust, it was frightening. The success of the entire Occupation was depen-
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dant [sic] upon implementing the program with the Emperor’s endorse-
ment. Without this, the whole concept would collapse. So disturbed was I
that I drafted a statement for General MacArthur outlining the chaos which
would follow were the Emperor to be falsely accused.

Hoping accurately to present this delicate situation, I took a draft of my
study to my life-long friend Miss Michi Kawai. She was most helpful in
shaping the statement accurately to reflect the Japanese reaction should be
Emperor be indicated.®

Shortly before his death in October 1973, Fellers granted an interview to Dale M.
Hellegers, a researcher on the Japanese Constitution. When Hellegers asked
Fellers whether “MacArthur himself always opposed the idea of trying the
Emperor, or was he converted to it,” Fellers replied, “I don’t know. I talked to
him about it, but he never expressed it to me.”® When asked if anyone in
MacArthur’s staff supported trying the Emperor, Fellers replied, “T had a very
strong view that a good deal of MacArthur’s staff was in favor of trying him.”®

As Takeda Kiyoko noted, GHQ did use the Emperor as the comerstone as it
promoted political, economic, educational and social reforms but in the process
these reforms helped to dismantle the Emperor system and encouraged the resur-
gence of the democratic or liberal elements and thoughts dating back to the 1920s.
The outcome of this change did not mean going back to Japanese society of the
1920s but a transformed Japan in which democracy took root under the new
Constitution (promulgated on November 3, 1946 and put into effect on May 3,
1947) and the Emperor became “the symbol of the unity of the people” based on
the sovereign will of the people under the new Constitution. Takeda also pointed
to the fact that public opinion polls taken in late 1945 and the first half of 1946
showed that the overwhelming majority of the Japanese public during the imme-
diate aftermath of the war supported the retention of the Throne and the current
Emperor but supported the purges of leaders in the military and bureaucracy.®

But these developments and the fact that the Emperor was never summoned to
testify or be tried in the war crimes tribunal did not mean the Showa Emperor’s
war responsibility would disappear as an issue. This issue was seriously dis-
cussed in Japan and abroad after the Japanese surrender in the 1940s and after
September 1988, that is shortly before the Emperor’s death, and continues to this
day.®6
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